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HERITAGE NEWMARKET 
ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

Tuesday, May 3, 2016 at 7:00 PM 
Mulock Room  

The meeting of the Heritage Newmarket Advisory Committee  was held on  Tuesday, 
May 3, 2016 in the Mulock Room  , 395 Mulock Drive, Newmarket. 

Members Present: 	Athol Hart , Chair 
Councillor  Hempen 
Billie Locke  
Joan Seddon  
Rohit Singh  
Malcolm Watts  

Absent: 	 Soni Felix Raj  

Staff Present: 	C. Finnerty, Council/Committee Coordinator  

The meeting was called to order at  7:00 p.m. 

A. Hart in the Chair. 

Additions & Corrections to Agenda  

None. 

Declarations of Interest 

Councillor Hempen declared an interest in Item  s 1 and 3 of the Agenda, being the  
Heritage Newmarket Advisory Committee Minutes of April 5, 2016 and correspondence  
from the Town of Newmarket Planning and Building Services Department regarding a  
Public Meeting concerning a Proposed Zoning By -law Amendment - 178, 180, 184,  
188, 190 and 194 Main Street South as he owns a business on Main Street and the  
Committee has made a recommendation that business on Main Street may be  
adversely impacted by the application. He advised that he would not take part in the  
d iscussion or voting of the foregoing matters.  

Approval of Minutes 

1. 	Heritage Newmarket Advisory Committee Minutes of April 5, 2016.  
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2. 	Correspondence from the Town of Newmarket Planning and Building  
Department dated April 18, 2016 regarding Notice of Complete Application  

Services 
- 

- 507 Mulock Drive. Zoning By- law Amendment  

a) THAT the correspondence from  the Town of Newmarket Planning and Building  
Services Department dated April 18, 2016 regarding Notice of Complete Application  - 
Zoning By-law Amendment - 507 Mulock Drive be received  ; 

b) AND THAT staff provide  
determine the subject location.  

additional information to the Committee in o  rder to 

Moved by: 	Billie Locke 
Seconded by: Joan Seddon 

THAT the Heritage Newmarket Advisory Committee Minutes of April 5, 2016 be  
approved. 

Carried 

Councillor Hempen did not take part in the discussion or voting of the foregoing matter.  

Presentations/Deputations 

None. 

Correspondence 

The Committee discussed the location of the subject lands, however they were  
unable to ascertain, based on the map provided,  which pro perty the application  
applied to and requested that staff provide further information at the next  
scheduled Heritage Newmarket Advisory Committee meeting.  

Moved by: Malcolm Watts 
Seconded by: Rohit Singh 

Carried 

3. 	Correspondence from the Town of Newmarket Planning and Building Services  
Department dated April 19, 2016 regarding a Public Meeting on Monday, May 9,  
2016 concerning a Proposed Zoning By -law Amendment - 178, 180, 184, 188,  
190 and 194 Main Street South.  
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The Chair advised that t  he correspondence relates to an application by Main  
Street Clock Inc. and requested that the building be referred to as the Federal  
Building or the Post Office as opposed to the Clock Tower. Discussion ensued  
regarding the upcoming public meeting and  the deputation process.  

Moved by: 	Billie Locke 
Seconded by: Joan Seddon 

THAT the correspondence from the Town of Newmarket Planning and Building  
Services Department dated April 19, 2016 regarding a Public Meeting on Monday, May  
9, 2016 concerning a Proposed Zoning By -law Amendment - 178, 180, 184, 188, 190  
and 194 Main Street South be received.  

Carried 

Councillor Hempen did not take part in the discussion or voting of the foregoing matter.  

4. 	Correspondence from the Town of Newmarket Planning and Building Services  
Department dated April 25, 2016 regarding 

 Application for Official Plan and  
Zoning By- law Amendments  - 1166 and 1186 Nicholson Road. 

Moved by: 	Councillor Hempen  
Seconded by: Billie Locke 

THAT the correspondence from the Town of Newmarket Planning and Building  
Services Department dated April 25, 2016 regarding Application for Official Plan and  
Zoning By-law Amendments - 1166 and 1186 Nicholson Road be received.  

Carried 

Items 

5. 	Designated Property Maintenance and Concerns  

a) 	Designation Requests & Inventory  

Discussion ensued regarding the work of the Heritage Consultant with  
respect to the research associated with the designation requests that have  
been received to date.  The Committee requested that an update  on the 
consultant’s work to date be provided at the next scheduled Heritage  
Newmarket Advisory Committee meeting.  
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Consultant after any preliminary research is conducted on any designation request that  
is received in order to review the work completed to date.  

Carried 

b) 	Christian Baptist Church  

Discussion was referred to the  next scheduled Heritage Newmarket  
Advisory Committee meeting  in order to receive an update from the Senior  
Planner – Community  Planning on t he status of the letter to the property  

deterioration owner with respect to the 	 of the exterior of the Church.  

a) Site & Heritage Location  plaques 

The Chair advised that the Senior Planner  

meeting with Recreation and  
process. 

– Community Planning will be  
Culture staff to review the site plaque  

Moved by: 	Councillor Hempen  
Seconded by: Joan Seddon 

THAT the Heritage Newmarket Advisory Committee be  consulted by the Heritage  

c) 	Stickwood Walker Farmhouse  

The Chair advised that some painting has been completed on the exterior  
of the property. Discussion ensued regarding  tail repairs. M. Watts  offered 
to visit the site to observe the progress of any repairs and report back to  
the Committee at the next scheduled meeting.  

6. 	Plaques 

b) Residence plaques  

M. Watts provided a verbal update on details of the plaque research and  
production completed to date. Discussion ensued regarding research  
sources. 
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7. Building Permit Application  - Quaker Meeting House, 17030 Yonge Street  
(designated under the Ontario Heritage Act by By  -law 1994-49). 

Moved by: 	Councillor Hempen  
Seconded by: Rohit Singh 

THAT the Heritage Newmarket Advisory Committee support 
 

the Building Permit  
Application for the Quaker Meeting House, 17030 Yonge Street.  

Carried 

8. Discussion regarding the 'Walking Tour' booklets.  

The Chair provided a copy of the Walking Tour of the Historical District brochure.  
Discussion ensued regarding reprinting the brochure  and whether there is  
potential to generate revenue  through sale of the brochure or hosted walking  
tours of the heritage district.  

Moved by: 	Billie Locke 
Seconded by: Rohit Singh 

THAT staff determine the cost to print Walking Tours of the Historical District brochures  
and rep ort back at the next scheduled Heritage Newmarket Advisory Committee  
meeting. 

Carried 

9. Discussion regarding the 2016 Heritage Conference  

Discussion ensued regarding whether a per diem and mileage is reimbursed to  
Committee members who are attending the  Conference. 

10. Heritage Newmarket Budget  

The Council/Committee Coordinator provided an overview of the budget to date.  

11. Reports of Committee Members  

a) 	Architecture, Recreation, Culture, Heritage (ARCH) Committee  

The Chair advised that ARCH has not recently met pending further  
information on site plaques.  
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a) M. Watts inquired on the plans and status of the  former Union Hotel  building 
located at the northeast corner of Davis Drive and Main Street  . Discussion  
ensued regarding heritage designation of the  former hotel and future  plans for 
building by the property owner. The Chair to reach out and inquire with Metrolinx  
staff in order to receive a presentation on future plans for the  building.  

b) Elman W. Campbell Museum Board  

B. Locke advised that the Museum hosted a number of successful March  
Break programs. She advised of the upcoming events, being the Mother’s  
Day tea and a garage sale  on May 28, 2016. 

c)  Lower Main Street South Heritage Conservation District Advisory  Group 

The Chair advised that Committee members have been consulted by email  
on various applications but have not met in a formal capacity in some time. 

d) Newmarket Historical Society Board of Directors  

R. Singh advised that the archive locks have been changed to avoid any  
further theft. The Board is working on the World War Centennial exhibit,  
with plans for the event to be presented to the membership. R. Singh to  
provide the Board minutes for distribu tion. 

New Business 

b) The Chair advised of a request from Soni Felix Raj to be excused from meetings  
for the summer months for personal reasons  . Discussion ensued regarding the  
previous request for additional members and the position of the Appointment  
Committee on said request.  

Moved by: 	Councillor Hempen  
Seconded by: Billie Locke 

a) THAT Soni Felix Raj be excused from Committee duties for the period of July to  
September, 2016; 

b) AND THAT the Appointment Committee be requested to replace Ms. Felix Raj for the  
duration of her leave with an experienced heritage representative.  

Carried 
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Moved by: 	Billie Locke 
Seconded by: Rohit Singh 

THAT Members of the Appointment Committee be requested to attend an upcoming  
Heritage Newmarket Advisory Committee meeting 

 

in order to understand the  
complexity of the Committee’s work.  

Carried 

c) M. Watts circulated copies of Heritage Matters magazine to Committee members  
for their review. 

d) B. Locke inquired with respect to the  surface finish of the gateway feature sign at  
Main Street and Davis Drive.  
heritage attributes. 

Adjournment 

Moved by: 	Councillor Hempen  
Seconded by: Joan Seddon 

THAT the meeting adjourn. 

Carried 

Discussion ensued regarding th e finish and 

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at  8:44 p.m. 

Date 
	

A. Hart, Chair 



















1 Statement of Significance Report –  411 Millard Avenue 

1.0 	PROPERTY INFORMATION 

Civic Address: 411 Millard Avenue 
Common Name: John Armitage House 
Legal Description: Plan 222, Lot 19 

2.0 PHOTOGRAPHS 

Image 1: Façade of Property at 411 Millard Ave 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing North) 

Image 2: Detail of Façade 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing Northwest) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 



2 Statement of Significance Report –  411 Millard Avenue 

Image 3: Façade and West Elevation of 411 Millard Ave 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing Northeast) 

Image 4: Stone Foundation, West Elevation 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing Southeast) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 



3 Statement of Significance Report –  411 Millard Avenue 

Image 5: West Elevation of 411 Millard Avenue 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing Northeast) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 



4 Statement of Significance Report –  411 Millard Avenue 

Image 6: North Elevation of 411 Millard Avenue 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing Southeast) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 



5 Statement of Significance Report –  411 Millard Avenue 

Image 7: North Elevation Showing Filled Door and Window Openings and 
Chimney Addition 

(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing Southwest) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 



6 Statement of Significance Report –  411 Millard Avenue 

3.0 	MAPS 

Map 1: Location of the Property at 411 Millard Avenue 
(Queen’s Printer for Ontario 2015) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 
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4.0 	BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

	

4.1 	Architecture or Design 

• Vernacular two storey yellow brick house with a Queen Anne elements 
• L-shaped floor plan 
• Yellow brick laid in stretcher bond 
• Field stone foundation 
• All window and door openings have wood sills and exhibit radiating brick 

voussoirs topped with a course of headers 
• Side gable roof with a central steep-pitch gabled two storey projection and a 

projecting gabled west wing with a two storey two-window bay 
• The centrally located projection consists of one small upper storey window 

opening (that looks to have been partially filled in) and one large 
rectangular window opening below; the entranceway is in the east 
elevation of the projection above which was a large rectangular opening 
that is now filled in 

• The two storey bay has two window openings on each storey and is 
decorated with gingerbread at the gable roofline 

• There is a sun room addition between the two projections —  built in 1989 
according to information provided by the city 

• The façade has one first storey window opening beside the entranceway 
• A shed roof covered verandah with supporting columns and decorative 

spandrels, extends eastward and wraps around the house 
• The west elevation has one window opening on each storey and one basement 

window opening 
• The north elevation had two window openings and a door opening in the front 

gable portion, two first storey openings were filled in and a new chimney was 
installed; the side gable portion has one visible window opening, the majority of 
this portion of the elevation is obscured by a new one storey addition 

• The east elevation had an entranceway from the verandah that has since been 
filled in, a second storey window opening and a basement window opening 

	

4.2 	History 

• Constructed in 1892 (Newmarket Era 1892) 
• Owned by John Armitage (1822 –1904) 

• Armitage family were pioneers to Newmarket, John Armitage is the 
grandson of pioneer Amos Armitage 

■  Amos Armitage was instrumental in the founding of the Orthodox 
Quaker Meeting House in Newmarket at 17030 Yonge Street 
(Beers & Co. 1907:453) 

• Armitage was a carpenter in Newmarket and member of the Society of 
Friends (Quakers) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 
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o  Woodwork in the gable may represent the type of carpentry that 
John Armitage would have designed 

o  Prior to the settlement of the Millard Avenue neighbourhood, Armitage 
owned a portion of Lot 94, Concession 1 East of Yonge Street in the 
Township of Whitchurch, west of the subject property (Miles & Co. 
Illustrated Historical Atlas of the County of York 1878) 

o  The construction date of the house aligns with the year that the widower 
married his second wife, Harriet Soules (his first wife Caroline died in 
1888) 

o  According to the abstract index, the property was purchased by Armitage's 
daughter Martha Jane in 1891 and sold by another daughter, Jennie, 
following his death in 1905 

4.3 	Context 

• The house is set on a rise from the road at a prominent location on the corner of 
Millard Ave 

• Supports the rich heritage character of the historic neighbourhood 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 



9 Statement of Significance Report –  411 Millard Avenue 

5.0 	EVALUATION OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Table 1: Evaluation of the Cultural Heritage Value or Interest of the Property 
According to Ontario Regulation 9/06  

EVALUATION OF PROPERTY 
Criteria Description ✓  

Design or Physical 
Value 

Is a rare, unique, representative or early example 
of a style, type, expression, material or 
construction method 

✓  

Displays a high degree of craftsmanship or artistic 
value 
Displays a high degree of technical or scientific 
achievement 

Historical or 
Associative Value 

Has direct associations with a theme, event, belief, 
person, activity, organization or institution that is 
significant to a community 

✓  

Yields or has the potential to yield information that 
contributes to the understanding of a community or 
culture 
Demonstrates or reflects the work or ideas of an 
architect, builder, artist, designer or theorist who is 
significant to a community 

Contextual Value 

Is important in defining, maintaining or supporting 
the character of an area 

✓  

Is physically, functionally, visually or historically 
linked to its surroundings 
Is a landmark 

6.0 	RECOMMENDATION 

RECOMMENDATION FOR PROPERTY 
Recommendation ✓  

The property has no cultural heritage value or 
interest, therefore it requires no further work. 
The property should be considered for addition to 
the Municipal Heritage Register. 
The property should be considered for designation 
under Part IV of the Ontario Heritage Act. 

✓  

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 



Statement of Significance Report –  411 Millard Avenue 
	

10 

7.0 	STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

The John Armitage House, located at 411 Millard Avenue, is situated on the north side 
of the road, in the Town of Newmarket. The property contains a two storey yellow brick 
house constructed in 1892. 

Statement of Cultural Heritage Value/Statement of Significance 

hysical/Design Value 

The John Armitage House is a representative example of a two storey Ontario 
vernacular house with Queen Anne elements. The L-shaped plan two storey house is 
constructed with yellow brick laid in stretcher bond on field stone foundation. The two 
storey bay with two windows on each of the storeys has a gable roof with gingerbread, 
reminiscent of the Queen Anne style. Typical of the Queen Anne style the house also 
has a centrally located steep-pitch gabled two storey projection. The centrally located 
projection consisted of identical upper and lower storey window openings, the upper is 
now partially filled in. The entranceway is in the east elevation of the projection. A shed 
roof covered verandah with supporting columns and decorative spandrels wraps around 
the house from the central projection to the east elevation. All window openings have 
wood sills and exhibit the same radiating brick voussoirs topped with a course of 
headers. 

istorical/Associative Value 

The John Armitage House is associated with John Armitage (1822–1904) a carpenter in 
Newmarket and a member of the Society of Friends (Quakers). He owned a portion of 
Lot 94, Concession 1, East of Yonge Street in the Township of Whitchurch (west of the 
subject property) before the Millard Avenue neighbourhood was settled. The house was 
constructed in 1982, which aligns with the year widower John Armitage married his 
second wife, Harriet Soules (his first wife Caroline died in 1888). The Millard Avenue 
property was purchased by Armitage's daughter Martha Jane in 1891 and sold in 1905 
by another daughter Jennie following his death. 

Contextual Value 

The John Armitage House’s unique architecture and situation on a slight rise from the 
street makes it a landmark at the corner of Millard Avenue and Church Street. The 
house supports the heritage character of the historic neighbourhood. 

Cultural Heritage Attributes 

• Two storey yellow brick construction 
• Field stone foundation 
• L-shaped floor plan with cross gable roof 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 
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• All window openings including the basement openings have wooden sills as well 
as radiating brick voussoirs topped with a course of headers 

• Central located two storey projection with one window opening on each storey 
and the entrance way in the east elevation 

• Two storey projecting bay with two window openings on each storey with 
gingerbread in the gable 

• Shed roof covered verandah with supporting columns and decorative spandrels 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 
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Appendix A: Background Material 

Image 8: John Armitage and Harriet Soules Marriage 
(County of York 1892:Schedule 'B') 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 



14 Statement of Significance Report –  411 Millard Avenue 

Image 9: John Armitage Death, March 7, 1904 (part 1) 
(County of York 1904:439) 

Image 10: John Armitage Death, March 7, 1904 (part 2) 
(County of York 1904:439) 

Image 11: John Armitage Obituary 
(The Newmarket Era 1904:2) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 



1 Statement of Significance Report —  379 Botsford Drive 

1.0 	PROPERTY INFORMATION 

Civic Address: 379 Botsford Drive 
Common Name: George Alexander Binns House 
Legal Description: Plan 81, Part Lot 85 

2.0 PHOTOGRAPHS 

Image 1: Façade of Property at 379 Botsford Drive 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing North) 

Image 2: Detail of Façade at 379 Botsford 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing North) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 



2 Statement of Significance Report —  379 Botsford Drive 

Image 3: Detail of Pediment and Bay on Façade of 379 Botsford Drive 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing North) 

Image 4: Detail of Cut-stone Foundation 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing West) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 



3 Statement of Significance Report —  379 Botsford Drive 

Image 5: Covered Porch on Façade at 379 Botsford Drive 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing East) 

Image 6: Interior View of Stained Glass Transom on Façade at 379 Botsford Drive 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing South) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 



4 Statement of Significance Report —  379 Botsford Drive 

Image 7: Oval Stained Glass Window on Façade at 379 Botsford Drive 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing North) 

Image 8: Interior View of Oval Stained Glass Window 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing South) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 
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Image 9: View of West Elevation 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing Northeast) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 
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Image 10: North and West Elevations 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing Southeast) 

Image 11: North (Rear) Elevation 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing South) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 
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Image 12: Basement Stairwell on North Elevation 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing South) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 
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Image 13: Stained Glass from Interior at Second Storey Landing 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing North) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 
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Image 14: North and East Elevations of 379 Botsford Drive 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing Southwest) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 
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Image 15: East Elevation and Façade of 379 Botsford Drive 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing Northwest) 

Image 16: West Elevation of Garage 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing East) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 
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Image 17: South Elevation of Garage 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing Northeast) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 
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3.0 	MAPS 

Map 1: Location of the Property at 379 Botsford Drive 
(Queens Printer for Ontario 2016) 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 
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4.0 	BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

	

4.1 	Architecture or Design 

• Representative of the Edwardian style with some Queen Anne elements 
• L-shaped plan 
• Two-and-a-half storey red brick construction laid in stretcher bond with projecting 

band of brick courses located under the second storey window openings as well 
as the top of the basement window openings, both bands run around the entire 
house 

• Cut stone foundation 
• Hip roof with wide eaves with brackets 

• The hip roof has a hip roof dormer with wide eaves and an offset pediment 
gable over a two-storey bay 

• The pediment has a small window 
• The pediment is decorated with fish scale shingles and a fan motif in the 

peak of the gable 
• A covered verandah wraps from the façade around the east elevation, supported 

by columns sitting atop brick bases and a sawed post balustrade 
• The façade is two-bay with a projecting bay window on the west side 

• The first storey exhibits a single entranceway and a large window with a 
rectangular stain glass transom as well as a small oval window opening 
with radiating brick voussoirs with a wood frame and stain glass window 

• All window openings (save for the oval window) have rusticated lug stone 
lintels and rusticated sills 

• A continuous border of lintel stones carries across the tops of the three 
window openings of the protruding bay window on both levels 

• The west elevation is two-bay, the scar of a filled in window opening is evident 
between two first storey window openings 

• There are two basement window openings, one with a stone lintel 
• All other windows on the west elevation have rusticated stone lintels and 

sills 
• The north elevation has stairs leading down to a basement door opening flanked 

to the west by two basement window openings and one to the east 
• A random assortment of window opening placement and size is exhibited 

on the north elevation: three rectangular openings on the first storey and 
three on the second storey 

• One second storey window is a large arched window with radiating brick 
voussoirs with a large stain glass window 

• All other windows on the north elevation are topped by large rusticated 
lintels and sills 

• Evidence of an original chimney runs up the elevation to the east of the 
basement door 

• East elevation is two bay; one of the upper storey windows was filled halfway 

May 2016 	 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd. 
HR-077-2016 
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• A wood siding clad vestibule shelters the entrance way into the rear end of 
the elevation; the vestibule has a door in both the north and south sides, a 
narrow walkway connects the verandah to the vestibule 

• A large hip roof dormer breaks the roofline 
• Banded red brick chimney at the west elevation, evidence of an original chimney 

at the rear 
• A one storey hip roof stuccoed two-car garage is located at the northeast corner 

of the property 
• The north, east and west elevations are two-bay 
• The property owner indicated that this garage may have been used to 

store inventory from Binns’ business, however research could not verify 
this use 

4.2 	History 

• Constructed in 1906 (Heritage Newmarket Advisory Committee n.d.:15) 
• Home of George Alexander Binns (1867–1940) 

• Binns started in the hardware business in Newmarket in 1890 after 
learning the trade with J.C. Robertson (at the 1932 location of Bolton's 
Bakery) (Newmarket Era 1932:2) 

• Binns purchased the former tinsmith and plumbing business of D.S. Wright 
– the 1932 location of Gibney's Barber Shop and the Dominion Express 
Office in Newmarket (Newmarket Era 1932:2) 

• He started his own business in 1902 with a focus on hardware, carriage, 
woodenware and sports (Pilfrey 2016) 

• He operated the business on Newmarket’s main street for over 35 years 
(Emanuel 2016) 

• He retired in 1928 after selling his business to Mr. Rowland (later known 
as MacNab Hardware) 

• Binns resided in the home with wife Emily (Watson) Binns, daughters 
Florence and Marjorie, and son Gordon 

■  Binns owned the property from 1904 until his death in 1940, it was 
sold by his executors in 1941 

• He was a prominent citizen in Newmarket 
• George Binns served on Town Council, high school board, and 

cemetery board 
• He was a board member of the bicycle club, curling and bowling 

clubs, a charter member of the High Wheel Newmarket Bicycle 
Club (1885), and a Master of the Masonic Lodge 

• The Binns family was one of the first to own a summer cottage at 
Orchard Beach on Lake Simcoe 

• Newmarket has a street “Binns Avenue” named for him (Emanuel 
2016) 
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o  George Alexander Binns was the son of GM Binns, printer of the first 
conservative newspaper in Newmarket, the Newmarket Courier  
(established in December 26, 1867) (Elder 1985:30;Carter 2011:148) 

	

4.3 	Context 

• The house is set back from the road on a small rise 
• Supports the rich heritage character of the historic neighbourhood 

	

5.0 	EVALUATION OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Table 1: Evaluation of the Cultural Heritage Value or Interest of the Property 
According to Ontario Regulation 9/06  

EVALUATION OF PROPERTY 
Criteria Description ✓  

Design or Physical 
Value 

Is a rare, unique, representative or early example 
of a style, type, expression, material or 
construction method 

✓  

Displays a high degree of craftsmanship or artistic 
value 
Displays a high degree of technical or scientific 
achievement 

Historical or 
Associative Value 

Has direct associations with a theme, event, belief, 
person, activity, organization or institution that is 
significant to a community 

✓  

Yields or has the potential to yield information that 
contributes to the understanding of a community or 
culture 
Demonstrates or reflects the work or ideas of an 
architect, builder, artist, designer or theorist who is 
significant to a community 

Contextual Value 

Is important in defining, maintaining or supporting 
the character of an area 

✓  

Is physically, functionally, visually or historically 
linked to its surroundings 
Is a landmark 

6.0 	RECOMMENDATION 

RECOMMENDATION FOR PROPERTY 
Recommendation ✓  

The property has no cultural heritage value or 
interest, therefore it requires no further work. 
The property should be considered for addition to 
the Municipal Heritage Register. 

✓  
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RECOMMENDATION FOR PROPERTY 
Recommendation ✓  

The property should be considered for designation 
under Part IV of the Ontario Heritage Act. 

✓  

7.0 	STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Introduction and Description of Property 

The George Binns House, located at 379 Botsford Drive, is situated on the north side of 
the road, in the Town of Newmarket. The property contains a two-and-a-half storey hip 
roof red brick house constructed circa 1906. 

Statement of Cultural Heritage Value/Statement of Significance 

hysical/Design Value 

The George Binns House is a good example of a two-and-a-half storey Edwardian 
house with Queen Anne elements. The L-shaped plan two-and-a-half storey house is 
constructed with red brick laid in stretcher bond with projecting bands of coursing at the 
sill level of the second storey window openings as well as at the lintel level of the 
basement window openings that both run around the entire perimeter of the house. The 
foundation is cut stone. Typical of Edwardian style, the house has a high hip roof with 
bracketed wide eaves broken by a hip roof dormer, a wrap-around verandah and a 
projecting pedimented over the two storey bay window. The Queen Anne influence is 
seen in the variety of decorative details and window openings including the projecting 
two storey bay on the west wing with a continuous border of lintel stones that carry 
across the tops of the three window openings. The wing is topped with a fish scale 
decorated pediment within which is a small window decorated with a fan motif in the 
peak. The façade is two-bay with an additional decorative oval stained glass window 
with a wood surround and radiating brick voussoirs. Several other stained glass 
windows are also found on the house: the single entranceway and large window 
opening with a stained glass transom and the large centrally placed stain glass arched 
window on the north elevation with has radiating brick voussoirs and a stone sill. The 
windows are topped with single lug rusticated stone lintels and sills. The verandah with 
sawed post balustrade is covered by a hip roof supported by half columns resting on 
brick stone foundations. 

istorical/Associative Value 

The George Binns House is associated with George Binns, who was a prominent citizen 
and shop owner in Newmarket. The house was built for George Alexander Binns (1867 - 

1940) in 1906 where he lived until his death in 1940 when it was sold by his executors. 
George was the son of G.M. Binns, a printer of the first conservative newspaper in 
Newmarket, the Newmarket Courier. Binns began working in the hardware industry in 
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1890 with J.C. Robertson. By 1902 he started his own business in Newmarket with a 
focus on hardware, carriage, woodenware and sports. Two years later he bought the 
land for this house. He operated the business on Newmarket’s main street for over 35 
years. He sold his interest in his company to Mr. Rowland when he retired in 1928. The 
store was later known as MacNab Hardware. George Binns lived in the home with his 
wife, Emily (Watson) Binns, daughters Florence and Marjorie and son Gordon. George 
Binns was a prominent citizen in Newmarket; he served on Town Council, the high 
school board and cemetery board. He was a board member of the bicycle club, curling 
and bowling clubs, a charter member of the High Wheel Newmarket Bicycle Club 
(1885), and a Master of the Masonic Lodge. George Binns’ contribution to the Town of 
Newmarket is commemorated through the naming of “Binns Avenue” after him. 

Contextual Value 

The George Binns House’s distinctive architecture and situation on a slight rise from the 
street makes it a landmark along Botsford Drive. The house supports the heritage 
character of the historic neighbourhood. 

Cultural Heritage Attributes 

• Two-and-a-half storey red brick construction 
• Hip roof with two hip roof dormers 
• Two bay façade with projecting two-storey bay window 
• Fish scale decorate pediment on the façade with a rectangular window opening 
• Off-centre oval stain glass window with radiating brick voussoirs and wood frame 
• Central entranceway 
• Large façade window with stain glass rectangular transom 
• All window openings with stone lintels and sills 
• Hip roof covered verandah 
• Two-bay east and west elevations 
• Large arched rear stain glass window with radiating brick voussoirs and stone sill 
• Banded brick chimney 
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ppendix A: Background Material 

Image 18: George Alexander Binns and Family in the 1911 Census 
(LAC 1911) 

Image 19: George Alexander Binns Family in the 1921 Census 
(LAC 1921) 

Image 20: Article About George Alexander Binns, 1932 
(The Newmarket Era 1932:2) 
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Image 21: George Alexander Binns Mourned 
(The Newmarket Era 1940:2) 
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Image 22: George Alexander Binns Obituary 
(The Newmarket Era 1940) 
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1.0 	PROPERTY INFORMATION 

Civic Address: 17030 Yonge Street 
Common Name: Orthodox Friends Meeting House and Cemetery 

2.0 PHOTOGRAPHS 

Image 1: Provincial Commemorative Plaque (former Ministry of Culture and 
Communications) 

(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing Southeast) 

Image 2: View of Eastern Boundary of Cemetery along Yonge Street 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing South) 
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Image 3: Cemetery View from Northeast Corner 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing Southwest) 

Image 4: Cemetery View from Northeast Corner 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing West) 
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Image 5: Absence of Grave Markers at the Centre of the Southern Hal 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing South) 

Image 6: View up the Southern Boundary of Cemetery from Southwest Corner 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing East) 
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Image 7: View from Southwest Corner 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing Northeast) 

Image 8: View of Northwest Corner of the Cemetery 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing West) 
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Image 9: View of Earlier West Facing Grave Markers 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing Southeast) 

Image 10: View of Later East Facing Grave Markers 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing Southwest) 
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Image 11: View of the Northeast Corner of the Cemetery 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing East) 

Image 12: View of Cemetery from the Orthodox Friends Meeting House 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing South) 
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Image 13: Gravestone of Asa Rogers, Land Donor 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing East) 

Image 14: A Commemorative Stone for a Founding Family Member 
of the Doan Family 

(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing West) 
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Image 15: Example of a Stone Grave Marker Set in Concrete 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing East) 

Image 16: Example of a Stone Grave Marker Set in Concrete 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing East) 
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Image 17: Example of a Cast Iron Grave Marker Supported by a Concrete Block 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing East) 

Image 18: Example of Off-Centre Undulating Engraving 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing East) 
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Image 19: Example of Off-Centre Undulating Engraving 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016; Facing East) 

Image 20: Time Capsule at Entrance to Property 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016) 
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Image 21: Example of Hand Pointing to Heaven Iconography 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016) 
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Image 22: Example of Dove Iconography 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016) 
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Image 23: Example of Tulip Iconography on Stone Carved to Appear like a Scroll 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016) 
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Image 24: Example of Lamb Iconography 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016) 
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Image 25: View of Façade of Orthodox Friends Meeting House 
(ontarioplaques.com , Facing Northwest) 

Image 26: View of East Elevation of Orthodox Friends Meeting House 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016, Facing West) 
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Image 27: Detail of Window on North Elevation 
(Photo taken on April 7, 2016, Facing South) 
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3.0 	MAPS 

Map 1: Location of the Property at 17030 Yonge Street 
(Queens Printer for Ontario 2015) 
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4.0 	BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

	

4.1 	Architecture or Design 

• The subject property contains a cemetery associated with the Orthodox Friends 
Meeting House located on the same site 

• Cemetery: 
• The land donor, Asa Rogers, is buried and has his grave marker as well as 

some of the Rogers family are located at the front, Row 1 (closest to Yonge 
Street) within their own small section that extends slightly from the rest of the 
fence line (see Image 2 and Image 13) 

• There are two voids within the cemetery where there are no markers visible 
(see Image 5) 

• Oldest gravestones are generally located along the east and south portions of 
the cemetery (see Image 9), while the more recent burials are located around 
the north and western portions (see Image 10) 

o  Quaker burials are generally conducted in the east-west axis of the 
typical Christian burial 

o  It should be noted the older monuments and grave markers face west 
while the more modern stones tend to be oriented eastward (though 
according to Mahoney 2011, Quaker burial orientation is ‘immaterial to 
the fate of the soul on the Day of Judgement' [Mahoney 2011:64]) 

o  Burials are not usually familially based, but rather took place 
methodically to fill the cemetery rather than by family based plots 

• Gravestones and monuments are a range of sizes and materials, including: 
wood (no examples of which remain visible), stone, cast iron (see Image 
15− Image 24) 

o  The grave markers also exhibit a range of engraving techniques, 
writing (font) styles and decoration/iconography 

• While Quaker Cemeteries are not generally ornate in stone decoration, some 
grave stone iconography can be seen in the Orthodox Friends’ Cemetery in 
Newmarket, namely: 

o  Hand with finger pointing up, symbolizing the deceased’s journey to 
heaven (see Image 21) 

o  Dove, often symbolizing the death of a child although in this case an 
adult woman (see Image 22) 

o  Tulip, generally an extension of the traditional use of flowers for 
commemoration (see Image 23) 

o  Lamb, representing the death of a child (see Image 24) 
• Meeting House: 

o  Construction began in 1810 and was completed in 1812 
o  A simple and understated one storey rectangular plan frame construction 

on rubble stone foundation 
o  Side gable roof with one red brick chimney at each gable end, one 

repaired 
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o  All window and door openings have simple, unadorned wood surrounds 
o  The existing board and batten vertical board is dated to the mid-19 th  

century (Bylaw 1994-49) 
o  The symmetrical façade is six-bay with a covered porch, supported by 

square columns, that runs the length of the entire façade 
■  Two double door entranceways are each flanked by two window 

openings 
o  West elevation is partially obscured by a shed roof addition with a single 

south facing entranceway 
■  Since the Meeting House is built on a slight hill, this elevation 

shows the rubble stone foundation 
o  The six-bay north elevation exhibits symmetrically place six-over-nine 

sash windows 
■  A small shed roof vestibule has been added to this elevation 

o  The three-bay east elevation has a single entranceway flanked by two 
large eight-over-twelve sash windows 

o  The access road/driveway runs between the cemetery and the Meeting 
House 

4.2 	History  

• The Orthodox Friends Meeting House was constructed between 1810-1812 (see 
Image 1) 

• Orthodox and Hicksite Friends: 
o  In 1828 there was a separation in the Yonge Street Friends Meeting 

House 
• The Orthodox Friends remained at the Meeting House and burial 

ground at 17030 Yonge Street 
• The Hicksite Friends established a meeting house and burial 

ground at what is now 16580 Yonge Street (burying ground 
designated under Part IV of the Ontario Heritage Act; Bylaw 1984- 
54) 

• Orthodox Friends Cemetery established in 1807 (NHS) 
o  In 1807, Asa Rogers deeded two acres of land for a burial ground for the 

Yonge Street Monthly Meeting of Friends (NHS) 
o  This land was quickly used for burials and additional lands were obtained 

for the purpose of constructing the Meeting House 
o  The burial ground is situated adjacent to the Meeting House in a typical 

fashion of the Friends (Newlands 1983:2) 
o  Burials were conducted in the east-west axis of the typical Christian burial 

■  In general, Quaker burial orientation was 'immaterial to the fate of 
the soul on the Day of Judgement' (Mahoney 2011:64) 

o  Burials are not usually familially based, but rather took place methodically 
to fill the cemetery rather than by family based plots 

o  Grave markers were not used at the cemetery until the 1830s (Newlands 
1983:2) 
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o  Early grave markers in the cemetery were constructed of field stone, 
wood, cast iron or granite 

o  In 1968, John McSkimming, P.L.S. drew a survey of the burial grounds to 
comply with the provisions of the Cemeteries Act  (R.S.O. 1990) 

o  In 1983, only one cast iron grave marker remained 
• Following an epidemic from 1808-1809 causing many deaths and necessitating 

the burial ground, additional lands for the construction of the Meeting House 
were obtained from William Doan in 1810 (NHS) 

• The Quaker Meeting House/Society of Friends Meeting House was municipally 
designated (Bylaw 1994-49), the By-law did not include the cemetery 

o  The building was constructed by members of the Religious Society of 
Friends who immigrated to the area from Pennsylvania after 1800 under 
the leadership of Timothy Rogers 

• The Yonge Street settlement was the third Quaker community 
established in Upper Canada 

• The settlement led to the development of the future Town of 
Newmarket 

o  The Orthodox Friends Meeting House was the first building constructed 
north of the Town of York (City of Toronto) for religious purposes 

o  The Orthodox Friends Meeting House is provincially recognized as the 
oldest surviving Meeting House in Canada and an important example of 
Quaker architecture in the country (Bylaw 1994-49) 

o  The Orthodox Friends Meeting House has been in continuous use for 
almost 200 years 

4.3 	Context 

• The property is located along the historic thoroughfare, Yonge Street 
o  The cemetery has several mature trees; two at each gated entryway and 

one in the west quarter near the centre 
• The Meeting House is located on a slight hill looking over the cemetery on the 

west side of Yonge Street 
o  Set back from the road in a park-like setting 
o  The Meeting House and cemetery are historically and functionally linked 
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5.0 	EVALUATION OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Table 1: Evaluation of the Cultural Heritage Value or Interest of the Property 
According to Ontario Regulation 9/06  

EVALUATION OF PROPERTY 
Criteria Description ✓  

Design or Physical 
Value 

Is a rare, unique, representative or early example 
of a style, type, expression, material or 
construction method 

✓  

Displays a high degree of craftsmanship or artistic 
value 
Displays a high degree of technical or scientific 
achievement 

Historical or 
Associative Value 

Has direct associations with a theme, event, belief, 
person, activity, organization or institution that is 
significant to a community 

✓  

Yields or has the potential to yield information that 
contributes to the understanding of a community or 
culture 

✓  

Demonstrates or reflects the work or ideas of an 
architect, builder, artist, designer or theorist who is 
significant to a community 

Contextual Value 

Is important in defining, maintaining or supporting 
the character of an area 

✓  

Is physically, functionally, visually or historically 
linked to its surroundings 

✓  

Is a landmark ✓  

6.0 	RECOMMENDATION 

RECOMMENDATION FOR PROPERTY 
Recommendation ✓  

The property has no cultural heritage value or 
interest, therefore it requires no further work. 
The property should be considered for addition to 
the Municipal Heritage Register. 
The property should be considered for designation 
under Part IV of the Ontario Heritage Act. 

✓  
(Amendment to Bylaw 1994-49) 
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7.0 	STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Introduction and Description of Property 

The Orthodox Friends Meeting House and Cemetery, located at 17030 Yonge Street, is 
situated on the west side of the road in the Town of Newmarket. The property consists 
of a cemetery established in 1807 and a one-storey wood clad meeting house 
constructed between 1810 and 1812. 

Statement of Cultural Heritage Value/Statement of Significance 

hysical/Design Value 

The Orthodox Friends Meeting House and Cemetery is an excellent example of a 
simple Quaker Meeting House with an adjacent Quaker Cemetery. It is one of the oldest 
surviving Meeting Houses in Canada and an important example of Quaker architecture 
in Canada. 

The Orthodox Friends Cemetery is located to the south of the meeting house. Grave 
markers were not used in the cemetery until the 1830s.The oldest gravestones are 
generally located along the east and south portions of the cemetery, while the more 
recent burials are located around the north and western portions; the older monuments 
and grave markers face west while the more modern stones tend to be oriented 
eastward. The cemetery features gravestones and monuments that range in size and 
material, including: wood (no examples of which remain visible), stone, cast iron. By 
1983, only one cast iron marker remained. The grave markers also exhibit a range of 
engraving techniques, writing (font) styles and decoration/iconography. Friends’ 
gravestones are not generally ornate, some grave stone iconography can be seen in the 
Orthodox Friends’ Cemetery in Newmarket, namely: hand with finger pointing up, 
symbolizing the deceased’s journey to heaven; dove, often symbolizing the death of a 
child though in this case an adult woman; tulip, generally an extension of the traditional 
use of flowers for commemoration; lamb, representing the death of a child. 

The Orthodox Friends Meeting House is a one-storey simple frame rectangular plan 
structure on a rubble stone foundation with a side gable roof. The gable roof features 
banded brick chimneys at each end. The board and batten board vertical board is a 
mid-nineteenth century addition. Typical of Quaker style architecture, the six-bay 
symmetrical façade features evenly spaced double entryway doors flanked by six-over-
nine sash windows. The six-bay north elevation has the same six-over-nine windows, all 
in unadorned wood surrounds. The east elevation has one single door opening flanked 
on each side by a large window opening with eight-over-twelve sash windows. 

istorical/Associative Value 

The Orthodox Friends Meeting House and Cemetery is associated with the Quaker 
Religion and has been in continuous use for almost 200 years. The Orthodox Friends 
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Cemetery was established first in 1807 after Asa Rogers deeded two acres of land for a 
burial ground for the Yonge Street Monthly Meeting of Friends. The donated land was 
used right away for burials following an epidemic that cased many deaths between 1808 
and 1809. Soon after this initial land-use as a cemetery, additional lands were obtained 
in 1810 for the purpose of constructing the Meeting House. 

The Orthodox Friends Meeting House was the first building constructed north of the 
Town of York (City of Toronto) for religious purposes. The Orthodox Friends Meeting 
House was constructed between 1810 and 1812 on lands obtained from William Doan. 
The building was constructed by members of the Religious Society of Friends who 
immigrated to the area from Pennsylvania after 1800 under the leadership of Timothy 
Rogers. This was the third established Quaker community in Upper Canada. In 1828, 
there was a separation in the Yonge Street Friends Meeting House; the Orthodox 
Friends remained at the Yonge Street Meeting House and burial ground at 17030 Yonge 
Street, while the Hicksite Friends established a meeting house and burial ground at 
what is now 16580 Yonge Street.  

Contextual Value 

The Orthodox Friends Meeting House and Cemetery is situated along Yonge Street, a 
historic thoroughfare. The Cemetery and Meeting House are historically and functionally 
linked. Mature Trees remain on the cemetery site, two at each gated entryway and one 
in the west quarter near the centre. The Meeting House overlooks the cemetery on a 
slight rise and is surrounded by lawns giving it a park-like atmosphere. 

Cultural Heritage Attributes 

• Gravestones’ surviving inscriptions that commemorate early Friends settlers in 
Canada 

• Original gravestones and monuments including their range of sizes and materials 
• Orientation on an east-west axis and placement of grave markers 
• Intricate designs on the gravestones including lambs, doves, hands pointing 

heavenward and tulips 
• The Meeting House’s location on a slight rise from the cemetery 
• Side gable roof 
• Rubble stone foundation 
• Symmetrical façade and elevations 
• Two brick chimneys in each gable end (one restored) 
• Shed roof supported by square posts that shelters the open verandah that runs 

the length of the façade 
• Four evenly spaced six-over-nine sash windows that flank two double-door 

entryways on the façade 
• Symmetrical six-bay north elevation with six-over-nine sash windows 
• East elevation with centrally located single entryway flanked on each side by one 

large eight-over-twelve sash window 
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•  All window openings with simple unadorned wood surrounds 
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Elman Campbell Museum (ECM) 
2004 'Fence around Quaker Cemetery, next to Quaker Meeting House'. Accessed 

online at: http://www.virtualmuseum.ca/sgc-cms/histoires_de_chez_nous-
communitymemories/pmv2.php?id=recorddetail&fl=0&lg=English&ex=000005  

98&rd=143003# 
2004 'Quaker burial ground showing stone markers next to Quaker Meeting House'. 

Accessed 	online 	at: 	http://www.virtualmuseum.ca/sgc- 
cms/histoiresdecheznous- 
community_memories/pm_v2.php?id=record_detail&fl=0&lg=English&ex=000005  

98&hs=0&rd=143004  
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Appendix A: Background Material 

Image 28: Friends Meeting House, Newmarket 
(Shaw 1933) 
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Image 29: Yonge Street Friends Burial Ground, 2004 
(Elman Campbell Museum) 

Image 30: Quaker Burial Ground, 2004 
(Elman Campbell Museum) 
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Image 31: Survey Plan of the Orthodox Quaker Cemetery 
(McSkimming 1968) 
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